SUPREME COURT COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SEABRIGHT INSURANCE COMPANY, ANTHONY VERDON LUJAN Plaintiffs and Appellants SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 1 5 2010

US AIRWAYS, INC.

(erroneously sued herein as America West Airlines)Frederick K. Ohmon Clerk

Defendant and Respondent

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate
District
Division Four

Supreme Court Case No.: S182508 First Appellate District Case No.: A123726 San Francisco Superior Court, No.: 458707

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF US AIRWAYS, INC.

KENNEY & MARKOWITZ L.L.P.

KYMBERLY E. SPEER (SBN 121703) ELIZABETH D. RHODES (SBN 218480)

255 California Street, Suite 1300

San Francisco, CA 94111

ISSUE PRESENTED

When an employee of an independent contractor sustains an on-the-job injury, can the hirer of the contractor be liable on the theory that the hirer's breach of a non-delegable duty contained in a statute or regulation constituted an "affirmative contribution" to the injury within the meaning of *Hooker v. Dept. of Transp.* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 198, 212, footnote 3?

INTRODUCTION

A. Nature of the Case

This appeal seeks to resolve the appellate courts' uncertainty over the meaning of footnote 3 in *Hooker v. Department of Transp.* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 198 (*Hooker*). In that note the Court acknowledged the possibility that, in certain cases, a hirer's "omission" to address a safety measure could abrogate the hirer's protection from liability that ordinarily is afforded through the workers' compensation statutes and the "*Privette/Toland* doctrine." Inextricably woven through the "omission" analysis is the related issue of whether compliance with certain safety regulations was "delegable" by US Airways, Inc. to its specialty contractor.

Workers' compensation carrier Seabright Insurance Company (Seabright) initiated this case in subrogation. The injured employee, Anthony Verdon Lujan (Verdon), intervened to assert negligence claims directly against passive hirer US Airways. US Airways had hired Verdon's employer, millwright Lloyd W. Aubry Co. (Aubry), to perform daily maintenance and repair of the airline's baggage conveyor belts at San Francisco International Airport (SFO). Verdon was injured in the course of that work. Both Seabright and Verdon seek recovery from US Airways based on the theory that the mere existence of certain alleged Cal-OSHA violations at the worksite, about which US Airways knew nothing, constitutes an "omission" sufficient to impose tort liability on the airline in derogation of the California workers' compensation scheme and this Court's decisions in Privette v. Superior Court (1993) 5 Cal.4th 689 (Privette) and, particularly, *Hooker*.

US Airways was granted summary judgment against both plaintiffs. The trial court held that the airline had no liability under *Privette* and *Hooker*, and that there was no evidence of causation regarding Verdon's injury. Plaintiffs appealed. Division Four of the

First Appellate District, Court of Appeal reversed. In a footnote of its own (No. 14), the Court of Appeal acknowledged that there are "two strands of judicial thought" on *Hooker*'s footnote 3 regarding when an "omission" would constitute an "affirmative act" creating liability in a passive hirer.

The Court of Appeal then chose to follow the wrong strand. Explicitly rejecting a prior ruling on the same issue from Division One of the same appellate district (*Madden v. Summit View, Inc.* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1267 [*Madden*]) as well as the Fourth Appellate District's opinion in *Millard v. Biosources, Inc.* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 1338 (*Millard*), Division Four held that the mere existence of an alleged safety violation, by itself and without any evidence of knowledge on the part of US Airways or a causal link with Verdon's accident, was sufficient to sweep away the passive hirer protections of *Privette*, *Hooker*, and similar opinions. The Court of Appeal also held that US Airways could not rely on Aubry to ensure the safety of its own worksite, even when the condition of that site itself was the subject of Aubry's contract.

B. Why The Court of Appeal's Opinion Should Be Reversed

When this Court observed in *Hooker*'s footnote 3 that an "omission" could be actionable, clearly it was referring to nonaction resulting from induced reliance or a promise broken. The Court of Appeal therefore critically erred in finding that the airline's "omission" – failing to remedy alleged safety violations that Aubry had never identified, and so US Airways knew nothing about them – by itself constituted conduct that "affirmatively contributed" to Verdon's injury.

The Court of Appeal also erred in ruling that US Airways could not "delegate" to Aubry responsibility for ensuring the safety of its own worksite. Finding and remedying unsafe conditions in and around the baggage conveyors was an inherent aspect of Aubry's contract with US Airways; these measures also were at the core of the contractor's own internal jobsite policies. US Airways therefore did not "retain control" of Aubry's worksite. Moreover, issues relating to a "non-delegable" duty were irrelevant to the court's analysis under *Hooker*, and should not have taken precedence over the court's examination of evidence relating to "retained control" and

"affirmative contribution." Had these issues been considered in the proper order, starting with *Hooker*'s two-part test, the Court of Appeal would not have had reason to (erroneously) consider plaintiff's non-delegable duty argument at all.

The Court of Appeal's decision should therefore be reversed, and the meaning of an actionable "omission" under Hooker's footnote 3 clarified to include only knowing acts of induced reliance, or a promise broken.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Aubry's Exclusive Control Of Its Worksites

In November of 2005, nobody knew more about Conveyor Belt No. 10 at San Francisco International Airport (SFO) than Aubry, which was Seabright's insured and Verdon's employer. Aubry is a licensed mechanical contractor and has maintained the baggage conveyors used by several airlines at SFO since at least 1991. On November 3, 2005, Aubry's employees were performing preventive maintenance and repair pursuant to the most recent, 1996 version of

¹ Vol. 1 CT, 93-94.

Aubry's contract with America West Airlines, Inc., predecessor entity to US Airways.²

Aubry's thorough knowledge of, and control over, the conveyor belts at SFO – and Conveyor Belt No. 10 in particular – is illustrated by Aubry's having been retained by the City and County of San Francisco (CCSF) in 2002 to inspect, report on and make repairs necessary to bring the baggage handling system to "minimum acceptable operations." Aubry was chosen for the job because it was a licensed mechanical contractor "that came highly recommended by a number of the airlines operating at SFO." Aubry's repairs to the conveyor system were not insignificant, and cost CCSF \$138,000.5

Aubry used only its own employees for the conveyor belt work at the airport.⁶ Aubry worked on the belts every day for five to eight

² Vol. 1 CT, 93-94. The 1996 contract was signed by Curtis Verdon, a 20-year veteran Aubry millwright and plaintiff Anthony Verdon's father. Vol. 1, CT 165-166, 71:15-75:15.

³ Vol. 1, CT, 39-46.

⁴ "Memorandum" from Airport Director dated March 28, 2002 at Vol. 1, CT, 39-40, 44-45, and specifically, 45 at 3.

⁵ *Id.*; Vol. 1, CT, 40, 8.

⁶ See deposition testimony of Stephen Duxbury, Administrator of Occupational Safety and Health for US Airways (Vol. 1, CT, 88 and Vol. 1, CT, 195 (8:13-24); 197 (77:11-78:14, 79:14-21); 198 (91:2-

hours per day.⁷ Its employees were free to come and go as they pleased without the knowledge or permission of US Airways.⁸ If US Airways learned of a problem with the belts, it would call Aubry and the contractor, in turn, would diagnose and repair the system.⁹ US Airways knew nothing of the belts and only occasionally entered the conveyor belt area when it needed to clear jammed baggage.¹⁰ There is no evidence that Aubry ever reported to US Airways that Conveyor Belt No. 10 was unsafe and violated Cal-OSHA regulations. There is no evidence that US Airways instructed Aubry to not repair the conveyor or not correct any other hazard on the jobsite.

Verdon's father, Curtis Verdon – himself a 20-year-veteran Aubry employee and former Manager of Operations at SFO –

^{9); 199 (102:3-103:3); 200-201 (116:8-117:1),} and Kenneth Ackermann, the airline's Shift Manager/Supervisor (Vol. 1, CT 203, 205 (15:4-18) and Vol. 1, CT, 208 (41:10-42:11); 209 (60:6-25); 210 (61:1-64:4).

⁷ See deposition testimony of Aubry employee Marco Moniz. (Vol. 1, CT, 142 (35:19-36:21); 147-148 (57:21-25; 58:12-59:16).

⁸ See deposition testimony of Aubry millwright supervisor Noel Varela. (Vol. 1, CT, 178 (10:18-20); 184 (38:3-40:4).

⁹ See Duxbury testimony at Vol. 1, CT, 194; 195-196 (8:13-19); and 199 (102:3-103:3), and Ackermann at Vol. 1, CT, 204; 205 (15:4-18); 207 (37:16-23); 208 (41:10-42:11); 209-210 (60:6-61:2).

¹⁰ Vol. 2, CT, 328, lines 6-25, 1-8.

acknowledged in deposition that Aubry was responsible for the safety of its employees, and that it used outside vendor Suzanne Smith to help devise Aubry's safety program. 11 Ms. Smith wrote Aubry's safety manual and handled Aubry's safety issues, including its involvement in the Verdon incident.¹² Aubry's safety manual explicitly acknowledged, "It is a condition of employment ... that all employees adhere faithfully to the requirements of this policy, as well as the safety rules, instructions, and procedures issued in conjunction with it." Aubry's self-imposed contractual "conditions" included "conduct[ing] safety inspections of all the company's jobsites" and "be[ing] completely responsible for on the job safety and health and secur[ing] the correction of safety deficiencies."14 Aubry's safety manual acknowledges its worksites will comply with the same kind of regulations it now claims are "non-delegable" by any hirer. 15 Verdon received all of his education, training and experience from Aubry or

¹¹ Vol. 3, CT, 607-622.

¹² Vol. 2, CT, 596-605.

¹³ Vol. 2, CT, 394; emphasis added.

¹⁴ Vol. 2, CT, 395-396.

¹⁵ Vol. 1, CT, 130-132, 230-236; 392-594.

from the school affiliated with his millwright's union, as did Aubry's other employees.¹⁶

B. Verdon's Injury

Verdon had been working as an apprentice millwright for eight months when he was injured on November 3, 2005.¹⁷ That morning Aubry's daily safety briefing had emphasized to Verdon the importance of not putting his hand into or near a moving machine of any type.¹⁸ Verdon then was assigned to work in tandem with Aubry millwright Marco Moniz, since it was Aubry's custom and practice to send out millwrights in pairs.¹⁹ The two millwrights first were to visually inspect the conveyor belt system and make note of any deficiencies or conditions needing repairs.²⁰ Then Verdon and Moniz

¹⁶ See Verdon testimony at Vol. 1, CT, 248-250 (21:16-29:15); 251(31:2-10); 253-254 (51:7-57:10); 255-257 (69:13-76:1) and testimony of Aubry Supervisor Noel Varela. (Vol. 1, CT, 177-180 (1:1-20:16).

¹⁷ Vol. 1, CT, 152 (75:18-76:6); 250 (27:13-15).

¹⁸ See record of 11/3/05 routine Aubry safety training at Vol. 1, CT, 137-138, and description of training in Moniz testimony at Vol. 1, CT, 143 (40:3-41:1); 144-146 (43:22-53:1); 154 (87:1-89:14).

¹⁹ See Verdon testimony, Vol. 1, CT, 259 (98:13-99:3).

²⁰See Verdon testimony, Vol. 1, CT, 254 (55:5-57:10); 255-257 (69:13-76:1) and Moniz testimony, at Vol. 1 CT, 182 (32:18-25).

were to turn off the conveyor belt, as required by Aubry's standard procedures and safety training, and make whatever repairs were needed.²¹

There were no witnesses to Verdon's injury because Moniz was looking at another section of the conveyor belt when the incident occurred.²² When he heard Verdon yell, Moniz shut down the power to the equipment and found Verdon with his arm inserted into the conveyor belt.²³ Moniz then climbed out of the conveyor area and alerted another Aubry employee, Noel Varela, that there had been an accident.²⁴ US Airways was not alerted to the incident, nor was it aware that any injury involving its equipment had occurred until long after the fact.²⁵

²¹ Ibid.

²² Vol. 1, CT, 149-150 (65:9-68:11).

²³ *Ibid*.

²⁴ Vol. 1, CT, 150-151 (68:19-70:16).

²⁵ See, Testimony of US Airways Shift Manager Kenneth Ackermann, Vol. 1, CT, 205 (15:4-18); 207 (37:16-23); 210 (61:3-64:4).

C. There Is No Evidence Of A Causal Link Between Any Act/Omission Of US Airways And Verdon's Injury

Moniz and Varela each wrote contemporaneous incident reports stating that Verdon had inserted his hand into a moving conveyor belt to remove debris, in violation of his safety training just hours beforehand.²⁶ But in opposition to US Airways' motions for summary judgment, Moniz and Varela submitted declarations claiming that they had made up the cause of the accident in their incident reports and did not know what really had happened.²⁷

Plaintiffs' expert Matthew Wilson inspected Conveyor Belt No. 10 on July 24, 2008, nearly three years after Verdon's injury. His resulting declaration, submitted in opposition to the summary judgment motions, concluded that Verdon's injury was caused by worksite conditions which allegedly violated certain Cal-OSHA safety regulations. Wilson also claimed to have relied on an unknown

²⁶ Vol. 1, CT, 157, 188-189.

²⁷ Vol. 3, CT, 668-670 (Varela); 677-679 (Moniz).

²⁸ Vol. 3, CT, 680-685.

²⁹ 8 C.C.R. §§ 3999 ("Conveyors") and 4002 ("Moving Parts of Machinery or Equipment") are part of the Cal-OSHA regulations known as General Industry Safety Orders (GISOs) found at Subpart 7 of Title 8 of the California Code of Regulations.

portion of Verdon's deposition testimony.³⁰ No deposition excerpt was submitted for the record, and Wilson's declaration did not explicitly identify the testimony on which he relied.³¹ Accordingly, the trial court struck that portion of Wilson's declaration which purportedly related to causation.³²

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The operative complaints are Seabright's form complaint filed on December 14, 2006, and Verdon's first amended complaint-in-intervention filed on May 19, 2008.³³

US Airways filed identical motions for summary judgment against both plaintiffs on June 5, 2008.³⁴ The trial court granted both

³⁰ Vol. 3, CT, 681, at 4, 5 and 12.

³¹ Ibid.

³² RT, 14:20-24.

³³ Vol. 1, CT, 115. Various procedural maneuverings pared down the party defendants on each pleading until only US Airways remained.

³⁴ Vol. 1, CT, 005.

motions for summary judgment on August 22, 2008.³⁵ The trial court entered its Orders on November 7, 2008.³⁶

Plaintiffs timely appealed.³⁷ The Court of Appeal on March 29, 2010 reversed the trial court's judgment for US Airways, holding that the airline's alleged "omission" to bring its conveyor belt system into compliance with "non-delegable" safety regulations, by itself, constituted "affirmative conduct" under Hooker that raised a triable issue of fact as to whether US Airways had caused Verdon's injury. The Court of Appeal explicitly acknowledged that, in so holding, its decision directly conflicts with that of Division One of the same appellate district in *Madden* as well as *Millard*: "...[T]here appear now to be two strands of judicial thought on the interpretation of footnote 3 of *Hooker*." The Court of Appeal also held that US Airways could not "delegate" to Aubry the responsibility for ensuring that Conveyor No. 10 was Cal-OSHA compliant, even though the condition of the baggage conveyors was the subject of Aubry's

³⁵ Vol. 1, CT, 011.

³⁶ Vol. 1, CT, 012-013, Vol. 4, 1053-1060.

³⁷ Vol. 1, CT, 013; Vol. 4, CT, 1087-1088.

³⁸ Seabright Insurance Company, et al. v. US Airways, Inc., et al. (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 219, 371, fn. 14.

maintenance contract, and the contractor had exclusively maintained that equipment for decades.³⁹

STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

US Airways appeals from the decision of the Court of Appeal, Seabright Insurance Company, et al. v. US Airways, Inc., et al. (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 219 (review granted), which ordered a complete reversal of the trial court's order granting summary judgment to US Airways. This Court granted review on June 9, 2010, and stayed its consideration of Lewis v. Pepper Construction 2010 WL682286, pet. for review granted, 6/9/2010, pending a decision on this case.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On an appeal from a summary judgment, appellate courts review the record *de novo* for the existence of triable issues, and consider the evidence submitted in connection with the motion (with the exception of evidence to which objections were made and sustained.) (*Guz v. Bechtel Nat'l, Inc.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 317, 334.) The reviewing court applies the same three-step process required of the trial court: first, the court identifies the issues raised by the

³⁹ *Id.* at p. 367.

pleadings, since it is these allegations to which the motion must respond; second, the court determines whether the moving party's showing has established facts which negate the opponent's claims and justify a judgment in the movant's favor; and when a summary judgment motion prima facie justifies a judgment, the third and final step is to determine whether the opposition demonstrates the existence of a triable, material factual issue. (*McAlexander v. Siskiyou Joint Community College* (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 768, 773.)

Appellate courts apply the abuse of discretion standard to any trial court ruling on the admissibility of evidence, but where the appeal also turns on the trial court's determination of a disputed fact issue, the court will apply the substantial evidence standard. (Winograd v. American Broadcasting Co. (1998) 68 Cal.App.4th 624, 632.) In appropriate cases, appellate courts may properly reject expert testimony when it is based on conclusions or assumptions not supported by evidence in the record. (Hongsathavij v. Queen of Angels/Hollywood Presbyterian Med. Ctr. (1998) 62 Cal.App.4th 1123, 1137.) An expert's opinion testimony "cannot rise to the dignity of substantial evidence" where the expert bases his or her conclusion

on speculative, remote or conjectural factors. (Leslie G. v. Perry & Assocs. (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 472, 487.)

Appellate courts independently determine the proper interpretation of a statute or regulation. (*People ex rel. Lockyer v. Shamrock Foods Co.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 415, 432.)

ARGUMENT

A. Hooker's Requirements Of "Retained Control" And "Affirmative Conduct" Are Unrelated To Whether A Regulatory Obligation Is "Non-Delegable"

In *Hooker* the Court noted, "There will be times when a hirer will be liable for an *omission*. For example, if the hirer promises to undertake a particular safety measure, then the hirer's negligent failure to do so should result in liability if such negligence leads to an employee injury." (*Hooker*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 212, fn. 3, emphasis added.)

The conflicting rulings on the meaning of this footnote suggest that lower courts have lost sight of the legal and policy reasons for the two-part *Hooker* test, particularly where the defendant allegedly breached a "non-delegable" duty. Plaintiffs argue, and the Court of Appeal seems to have held, that the alleged existence of a non-

delegable duty essentially eliminates any reason for a court to consider whether there is evidence of retained control or affirmative contribution. Not so.

This Court did not invent the requirements of "retained control" and "affirmative contribution" when it considered the further permutations on *Privette* presented by *Hooker*. Rather, these concepts have been constant themes in California jurisprudence for over 100 years. At common law, a person who hired an independent contractor generally was not liable to third parties for injuries caused by the contractor's negligence in performing the work. (*Padilla v. Pomona College* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 661, 668-670 [*Padilla*]; see also, Restatement (Second) of Torts [Restatement], §409.)

Accordingly, the common law "peculiar risk" doctrine developed in the latter half of the nineteenth century out of recognition that "a landowner who chose to undertake inherently dangerous activity on his land should not escape liability for injuries to others simply by hiring an independent contractor to do the work."

(*Privette*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 695, fn. 2.) "Central to this rule of nonliability was the recognition that a person who hired an

independent contractor 'had no right of control as to the mode of doing the work contracted for.' ... On the other hand, if a hirer does retain control over safety conditions at a work-site and negligently exercises that control in a manner that affirmatively contributes to an employee's injuries, it is only fair to impose liability on the hirer." (Hooker, 27 Cal.4th at p. 213, citing Green v. Soule (1904) 134 Cal. 96 [Green] and McDonald v. Shell Oil Co. (1955) 44 Cal.2d 785 [McDonald].)

Hooker's reliance on Green⁴⁰ illustrates how early in the law California courts recognized that, before the alleged breach of a "non-delegable duty" even becomes relevant, the court first must examine whether the defendant had control over the conditions that allegedly caused the incident. This priority of analysis is critical. The "non-delegable duty" concept is inextricably related to the "peculiar risk" doctrine's focus on affording a remedy to an innocent bystander

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