# SUPREME COURT COP

No. S182508

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SEABRIGHT INSURANCE COMPANY, ANTHONY VERDON LUJAN, Plaintiffs/Appellants,

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

NOV 1 5 2010

U.S.AIRWAYS, INC. (erroneously sued herein as AMERICA WEST Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Defendant/Respondent.

Deputy

After Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Four First Appellate District Court Case No. A123726 San Francisco Superior Court Case No. 458707

### APPELLANTS' JOINT ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

**HODSON & MULLIN** Samuel C. Mullin, SBN 139193 601 Buck Avenue Vacaville, CA 95688 (707) 452-9606 (telephone) (707) 452-9607 (facsimile)

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

### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case of direct negligence of the Respondent, and not one of vicarious liability. This negligence results from Respondent's failure to comply with regulatory nondelegable duties, which failure caused the injury to Verdon.

The Court of Appeal, First District, Fourth Division, in its Opinion in our matter noted in footnote 14 that there may be "two strands of judicial thought on the interpretation of footnote 3 of *Hooker. Barclay* and *Evard* take the view that the breach of a nondelegable statutory or regulatory safety obligation, without more, can create a triable issue as to whether the hirer affirmatively contributed to the employee's injury, while *Millard* and *Madden* take the view that it cannot." While Appellants acknowledge the potential conflict that may exist, under any "strand" of *Hooker v. Department of Transportation (2002) 27 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 198, 212, fn. 3, 115 Cal.* 

Rptr.2d 853, 38 P.3d 1081 (Hooker) interpretation, this matter contains sufficient admissible evidence to submit the disputed issues to a finder of fact.

Additionally, Respondent erroneously combines the "retained control" exception established by *Hooker* and the "nondelegable duty" exception articulated in Evard and Madden to create its own new more restrictive three-pronged test when combined with "affirmative contribution". While Appellants contend this is an attempt to impermissibly create a new, more restrictive standard to suit its attempts to escape liability for its nondelegable duty breach, in light of U.S. Airways' employees' activities in and around the conveyor, which included "clearing baggage jams", there are disputed facts as to whether U.S. Airways retained control. As noted in footnote 4 of the appellate decision, "Appellants presented evidence, which U.S. Airways did not dispute, that at times U.S. Airways's own employees entered the work space where the conveyor was located to clear baggage jams." As such, undisputed evidence exists as to retained control, such that this case would meet even a newly created threepronged expanded test. Further, by the very nature of not being able to delegate a duty, the party who possesses the nondelegable duty "retains control" over that obligation such that arguing for such an additional test appears moot.

The undisputed fact is that there was no compliance with sections 3999 and 4002 of Title 8 of the California Code of Regulations regarding covering and guarding. These duties existed for Respondent before LWA and Verdon ever entered the airport premises, and are nondelegable. These regulatory duties to guard did not arise as a consequence of or during LWA's work. The admissible evidence herein establishes sufficient issues of material fact that Respondent's breach of its nondelegable regulatory

duties affirmatively contributed to the cause of Verdon's injury. Finally, the Court of Appeal's Opinion is consistent with the well-established public policy of the State of California that a hirer be held accountable for its direct negligence.

### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

As a motion for summary judgment raises only questions of law, this Court's review is *de novo*, "considering all of the evidence the parties offered in connection with the motion (except that which the trial court properly excluded) and the uncontradicted inferences the evidence reasonably supports." *Merrill v. Navegar, Inc.* (2001) 26 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 465, 476.

#### V. ARGUMENT

### A. Respondent's Regulatory Duty to Cover and Guard the Moving Parts of its Conveyor was Nondelegable.

The regulations at issue are General Industry Safety Orders. See 8 CCR §§ 3999, 4002. As correctly noted by the appellate court in our case,

The obligations imposed by the regulations at issue here are not connected to construction or to work that would naturally be done by independent contractors who would control conditions at a constructions site....The regulations impose a continuing obligation to provide guards for conveyors and their moving parts and to provide adequate lighting, an obligation that inured to the benefit both of Aubry's employees and of U.S. Airways's own employees when they entered the conveyor area to clear baggage jams. Appellants offered undisputed expert evidence that the conveyor was not properly guarded as required by the applicable regulations. Thus, the regulations impose a nondelegable duty to provide guarding, and this duty survives *Privette* and its progeny.

There is no legitimate evidentiary or legal basis to disturb the appellate court's finding in this regard. Before Verdon set foot on Respondent's property to conduct his visual and audio inspection of the conveyor,

Respondent was under a long standing duty to provide specified safeguards or precautions for the safety of others, namely, to cover and guard the conveyor's moving parts. This duty ensured that Respondent's premises would be maintained safely for anyone that entered, including its own employees and vendors. There was nothing that Verdon or his employer did to trigger the imposition of the duty, and neither Verdon's presence, nor the work he undertook on behalf of LWA, could eradicate Respondent's permanent obligation to comply with the statutes.

The foregoing indisputable facts clearly distinguish this matter from other cases where plaintiffs have failed to establish a nondelegable duty gives rise to a hirer's liability. For example, *Madden v. Summit View, Inc.* (2008) 165 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> 1267, 81 Cal. Rptr.3d 601 (*Madden*) involved a dynamic work of improvement, and the regulation at issue was Title 8, Code of Regulations section 1621, a Construction Safety Order. *See* 8 CCR §1621. At no point *prior* to the commencement of the contractor's work was the regulatory duty at issue (erection of a guardrail) imposed upon the hirer of the contractor. The duty only arose after construction commenced, and only if the work conditions fit within the regulatory criteria. Thereafter, as is common in the construction context, compliance with section 1621 was *delegable* as between the general contractor and the subcontractors working on the site.

Respondent's duties not only arose by statute, but also by contract, as set forth in the Space and Use Permit between Respondent and the City and County of San Francisco. (See *Clerk's Transcript*, 48-82.) That contract required Respondent to "[a]t all times . . . cause the Premises and its operations [there]under to comply with all present and future . . . state . . . laws, rules, regulations and ordinances . . ." and ". . . keep the Premises, including the baggage handling system, and every part thereof in good condition and repair, and in compliance with applicable Laws . . ." (See *Clerk's Transcript*, 60, 66.)

Similarly, in *Padilla v. Pomona College* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 661, the employee of a subcontractor hired by the general contractor to demolish water pipes during renovation of a dormitory at Pomona College, sustained serious injuries when he fell from a ladder. See *Padilla*, *supra*, at 664-665. He was standing on the ladder to demolish an unpressurized cast-iron metal pipe. *Id.* at 665. During the demolition, part of the pipe came loose and fell, striking a pressurized PVC pipe and breaking it. *Id.* The gush of water knocked Padilla off the ladder. *Id.* The PVC pipe was not to be demolished and remained pressurized to continue to provide water during the renovation. *Id.* Padilla and his employer knew of the PVC pipe and knew it was not to be demolished or damaged. However, they did not know it would remain pressurized. *Id.* 

Relying on *Evard v. Southern California Edison* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 137, Padilla argued that Code of Regulations section 1735(a) imposed a nondelegable duty on the hirer (the general contractor) and Pomona College to depressurize the PVC pipe prior to demolition. *Id.* at 671. The *Padilla* court recognized that "a nondelegable duty may arise when a statute or regulation requires specific safeguards or precautions to ensure others' safety . . .," but stated that it was the ". . . nature of the regulation itself that determines whether the duties it creates are nondelegable." *Id.* at 673.

In granting summary judgment, the *Padilla* court reasoned that section 1735(a) did not specify who must perform the acts described in the regulation and did not expressly place that obligation on the landowner. Thus, contrary to our case, there was no basis to conclude the duties in section 1735(a) could not be delegated, as the duty to depressurize the pipe did not arise until demolition was undertaken. See *Id*.

## 1. The Legislative History of Section 4002 Does not Establish It was Intended to be Delegable.

Respondent asserts that the legislative history of section 4002 is instructive to the Court as to whether the duty it imposes is delegable. In support of its position, Respondent provided the Court with one hundred forty (140) pages of legislative history<sup>2</sup> that it argues establishes section 4002 was never contemplated to be nondelegable. Respondent's position relies solely on the absence of any discussion documented in the legislative history that in revising section 4002, the legislature intended it to be nondelegable.

The documents presented relative to the proceedings which took place in 1974 and 1981-1982<sup>3</sup> inform this Court of the following: First, the Legislature undertook a comparison between the Federal OSHA standards and the California OSHA standards and determined that the California OSHA standards ought to be revised to be "at least as effective" as the Federal standards. *Petitioner's (sic) Request*, Exhibit 3-4. Second, the proposed changes to section 4002 represented only a "condensation of existing machine guarding requirements. . . contained in section 4002, 4003 and Article 55." *Id.* at Exhibit 3-44, 45. Therefore, the proposed revisions did not represent substantive changes. *Id.* Members of the affected

Appellants note that the voluminous documents concerning the legislative history of section 4002 are the subject of a pending Request for Judicial Notice by Petitioner (sic). The Court has yet to rule on that Request. Appellants note the Request was not in compliance with Rule 8.252(a)(2)(A)&(C) of the California Rules of Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The proceedings offered took place decades before the non-delegable duty basis for liability of a hirer could be addressed by the courts in the context of *Privette*.

industries participated in the proceedings, according to the documents provided, arguing, in part, that the potential cost of compliance with the revised version of section 4002 outweighed the utility of those changes. (See *Id.* at Exhibit 3-37, 3-126, 3-129, 3-133, 3-136.) These concerns were considered, and the Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board, in its Final Statement of Reasons, dated July 22, 1982, held that the purpose of the proposed revisions to section 4002 was to consolidate the guarding requirements in sections 4002 and 4003 and to include additional guarding requirements. *Id.* at Exhibit 3-137.)

Respondent argues that the documents presented provide an "analysis of the meaning and intent of the Legislature and the agency in drafting [section 4002]." Petitioner's (sic) Request, pp.10-11. Within the 140 pages of materials provided, there is no reference to any consideration of (1) whom, with respect to a particular work site, would be responsible for compliance with section 4002, or (2) whether at a multi-employer work site, compliance with section 4002 was delegable by the owner of the premises. The documents do show that Cal OSHA was not considering revisions to its regulations for the purpose of determining whether the duties the regulation created were delegable or not. The stated purpose was to make the Cal OSHA regulations at least as effective as the Federal equivalent and to condense the guarding requirements into section 4002. Since the issue of delegability was not part of Cal OSHA's agenda, the absence of any reference or discussion concerning the same does not tend to prove or disprove any legislative intent relative to delegability of the duties outlined in section 4002. Further, even if section 4002 applied equally to LWA, that argument goes to comparative fault, not delegability

of Respondent's permanent duty to guard whether it hired LWA or not.<sup>4</sup> Based on the foregoing, Respondent's argument in this regard fails.

# B. Where There is a Breach of a Nondelegable Duty by a Hirer That Causes Injury to an Employee of the Hirer's Contractor, An Exception to *Privette* Exists.

Evard stands for the proposition that where the breach of a nondelegable duty causes the subject injury, an exception to *Privette* exists, and an employee of a contractor is allowed to proceed in a cause of action against the directly negligent hirer. The Court of Appeal correctly noted that Evard's holding continues to promote this Court's rationale that ". . . . the liability of the hirer in such a case is not "in essence vicarious" or 'derivative' in the sense that it derives from the 'act or omission' of the hired contractor." Seabright, supra, at 232 (citing Camargo v. Tjaarda Dairy (2001) 25 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 1235, 1244 (quoting Toland v. Sunland Housing Group, Inc. (1993) 18 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 253, 265)). Evard is consistent with the public policy of holding parties accountable for their direct negligence.

Of significance in our case is the fact that Respondent, at all times, was the entity legally responsible for compliance with Code of Regulations sections 3999 and 4002. Even if there was no such nondelegable duties placed upon Respondent, the Agreement between Respondent and LWA eliminates the possibility that those duties were delegated to LWA. (See Clerk's Transcript, Vol. 1, pp. 60, 66.) It cannot be disputed that Respondent remained obligated to ensure the equipment was in compliance with Code of Regulations sections 3999 (cover) and 4002 (guarding) irrespective of whether or not it hired LWA to perform preventative maintenance and repair of the conveyor. It is undisputed that the conveyor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> To the extent Respondent establishes comparative fault is at issue, it supports the parties' right to have a jury decide liability.

had open and unguarded moving parts in violation of these regulatory mandates.

The facts in our case are similar to those in *Evard*, *supra*. The issue in *Evard* was whether the owners of a billboard, who hired Evard's employer, A.M.P. Tree Service, negligently violated a regulation that required them to maintain the billboard in a safe condition and to provide precautions against injuries to workers performing work on the billboard. *Evard*, *supra*, at 142-143. Specifically, Title 8, California Code of Regulations section 3416(a), a General Industry Safety Order, mandated the use of a horizontal safety line in the absence guardrails for platforms of a certain height. *Id.* at 147.

The *Evard* court found that the owner of the billboard was responsible for complying with section 3416(a). The Court opined that the *Privette* line of cases did not abolish liability for breach of a non-delegable duty imposed by statute or regulation. As *Evard* instructs: "[a] non-delegable duty is a definite affirmative duty the law imposes on one by reason of his or her relationship with others. One cannot escape this duty by entrusting it to an independent contractor." *Id.* at 146, citing *Felmlee v. Falcon Cable TV* (1995) 36 Cal.App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1032, 1036.

The *Evard* court further emphasized, that:

A nondelegable duty may arise when a statute or regulation requires specific safeguards or precautions to ensure others' safety. Restatement Second of Torts, section 424 states the nondelegable duty rule as follows: "One who by statute or administrative regulation is under a duty to provide specified safeguards or precautions for the safety of others is subject to liability to the others for whose protection the duty is imposed for harm caused by the failure of a contractor employed by him to provide such safeguards or precautions."

Id., citing Felmlee, supra, at pg. 1038.

In our case, Respondent, just as the owners of the billboard in *Evard*, had a duty to comply with regulatory requirements (covering and guarding) to prevent injuries from those in and around the conveyor. Both Respondent herein and the billboard owner in *Evard* failed to comply with their nondelagable duties, leading to injury. These are both situations of direct, rather than vicarious liability.

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